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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
ST. CLARE ROSENBERG, WAYNE
ANDERSON, CHARLES
WASHINGTON, and EDWARD
ANDERSON, Individually and on behalf
of a class of all other persons similarly
situated,
Plaintiffs,
v.
IKON OFFICE SOLUTIONS, INC.,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

FIRST AMENDED
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
05 Civ. 9131 (PAC)
ECF CASE
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
I.

NATURE OF THE ACTION
1.

Plaintiffs St. Clare Rosenberg, W ayne Anderson, Charles W ashington,

and Edward Anderson (“Plaintiffs” or “Class Representatives”) are former employees of
IKON Offic e Solutions, Inc. (“IKON,” “The Company,” or “Defendant”). They bring
this action on behalf of them selves and th e class of IKON’s form er, current and future
African American employees who worked, currently work, or will work for the company
in New York State and New York City.
2.

IKON presents itself as a 21

st

century business leader engaged in

integrating imaging systems and services th at help industry m anage document workflow
and enhance efficiency. Unfortunately, this attractive, self-descriptive veneer m asks an
uglier reality. When it comes to its African American employees in New York State and
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New York City, IKON’s em ployment practices are rem iniscent of the antebellum South
and the era of the Night Rider.
3.

Black employees have been sub jected to an en vironment permeated with

racial h atred, slurs, ep ithets and s tereotypes. Af ter be ing inf ormed of these r acist
practices, IKON has d one nothing to address them. Instead the com pany has retaliated
against African Am erican employees who have complained about the slurs and epithets
by transferring these employees or otherwise making their work duties more onerous.
4.

More specifically, certain of IKON’s Caucasian employees routinely use

the word “n igger” when referring to African Am erican employees. African Am ericans
are referred to “low class black,” “bad ni gger,” “high class black,” and “good nigger.”
Despite being told about these derogatory references to black em ployees, IKON’s white
managerial and supervisory staff have re

fused to discipline or discourage those

responsible for this racist behavior.
5.

Additionally, IKON ha s denied Plain tiffs and the class of African

American employees full and equal pay and promotion opportunities. When an African
American employee complains about IKON’

s discrim inatory pay, prom otion and

policies, th e com pany swif tly retaliates and d estroys the c omplaining em ployee’s job
prospects within the company.
6.

These are not simply the ambitious allegations of a boilerplate com plaint.

The EEOC has issu ed to Plain tiff Rosenberg a Notice of Right to Sue dated July 29,
2005, concluding that the evidence “supports a reasonable cause to believe that the
Charging Parties were subjected to discrimination based on race/color, Black, in violation
of Title VII.” The EEOC determined the following:
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The investigation supports Char ging Parties’ allegations that
Respondent discrim inated agains t Charging Parties and other
similarly situated Black employees, on the basis of their race and
color, Black, and also supports Charging Partie s’ allegations that
Respondent subsequently retalia ted against them and other
similarly situated individua
ls for opposing e
mployment
discrimination. The investigation also reveals that complaints
were m ade about the hostile environm
ent and discriminatory
treatment. Respondent knew or sh ould have known of the above
described discrim ination and harassm
ent, but failed to
appropriately investigate and remedy the discrimination.
Consequently, based on the testim
ony/interviews with the
Charging P arties, o ther current an d form er employees/witnesses
suffering from si milar discrim ination and/or retaliation, and the
above analysis, [the EEOC] conclude[s] that the evidence obtained
during the Commission’s investigation supports a reasonable cause
to believe that the
Charging Parties were subjected to
discrimination based on race/color, Black, in violation of Title VII.
7.

Plaintiffs theref ore f ile this Clas s Action Com plaint to red ress the r acial

discrimination perm eating IKON. Allegations of racial discrim ination at IKON are
supported by the EEOC’s investigation and conclusion.
8.

The Class Representatives seek to represent African Am erican employees

of IKON who have been subj

ected to one or m

ore asp ects of the system ic race

discrimination described in this C omplaint, including, but not lim ited to: (a) a hostile
work environm ent and race-based harassm ent; (b) disparate pay; (c) discrim

inatory

policies, practices and/or procedures in se lection, prom otion and advancem ent; and (d)
retaliation in the workplace. The system

ic race discrim ination describ ed in this

Complaint has been, and is, continuing in nature.
9.

The Class Representatives seek on behalf of them selves and the clas s

declaratory and injunctive relief, including, but not limited to, affirmative restructuring of
IKON’s anti-discrimination and internal pers onnel policies; selec tion and com pensation
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procedures, training and other terms and conditions of e mployment; back pay; front pay;
compensatory and nom inal damages; and attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses to redress
IKON’s discriminatory and retaliatory employment policies, practices and/or procedures.
II. PROCEDURAL
10.

HISTORY

On December 27, 2004, Plaintiff St. Clare Rosenberg (“Mr. Rosenberg”)

filed an individual and class EEO Charge of

Discrim ination, allegi ng race-based and

color-based discrimination and retaliation.
11.

On July 20, 2005, the Equal E

mployment Opportunity Comm ission

(“EEOC”) issued a determination as to the merits of Mr. Rosenberg’s charge. The EEOC
found reasonable cause to believe that Mr.

Rosenberg was subjected to discrim ination

based on race and color in violation of Title VII.
12.

On July 29, 2005, the EEOC issued Mr . Rosenberg a Notice of Right to

Sue (“Right to Sue”) which stated th at any lawsuit “must be filed W ITHIN 90 DAYS of
your receipt of this Notice...”
13.

Plaintiff Rosenberg received the

Notice of Right to Sue on August 4,

2005. Mr. Rosenberg tim ely filed suit on Oct ober 26, 2005, within ninety (90) days of
receipt of his Notice of Right to Sue.
14.

Plaintiff Charles W ashington timely filed a complaint with the New York

State Division of Hum an Right s on October 18, 2005. Mr. W ashington’s complaint of
racial discrim ination and retaliation is curr ently under investigation. P laintiff Edward
Anderson tim ely filed a Charge of Discri

mination with the US Equal Em

ployment

Opportunity Commission on January 4, 2006. Mr. Anderson received his Notice of Right
to Sue on May 18, 2006.
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The Class Representatives are rely ing on their own EEO charges and/or

those of other Class Representatives.
III.

PARTIES

A.

The Plaintiffs
16.

Plaintiff St. Clare Rosenberg is a resident of Brooklyn. From August

2002 to October 4, 2004, Mr. Rosenberg was e

mployed as a Custom

er Sales

Representative (“CSR”) f or IKON at Def endant’s facility located at 950 Third Avenue,
New York, New York. IKON constructively discharged Mr. Rosenberg, who resigned as
of October 4, 2004.
17.

Plaintiff Wayne Anderson is a resident of

approximately January 5, 2004, Mr. Anderson

the Bronx. Beginning

was em ployed as a C ustomer Service

Representative (“CSR”) for IKON at Defendant’s facility located at 810 Seventh Avenue,
New York, New York, 10019. (Mr. Anderson pr eviously worked for IKON in No rfolk,
Virginia from Nove mber 2002). In a

pproximately August 2005, Mr. Anderson left

IKON because of the co mpany’s racially disc riminatory pay and promotion policies and
its denial of equal advancement.
18.

Plaintiff Charles Washington

Washington began working full-tim

is a resident of Yonke

e for IKON as a Field Serv

(“FSR”) in June 2005, and previously worked for IKON as a te

rs, NY. M r.

ice Representative
mporary em ployee

beginning in 2002. In Decem ber 2005, Mr. W ashington resigned fro m IKON due to the
racial harassment and discrimination he experienced on the job.
19.

Plaintiff Edw ard Anderson is a resident of St

aten Island, NY. Mr.

Anderson began working for IKON as a Key Op erator in October 2001. He was forced
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the discrim inatory and retaliatory

treatment he experienced there.
B.

The Defendant

20.

IKON is a m

ultinational corporation with its corporate headquarters

located in Malvern, Pennsylvania. IKON c onducts business throughout New York State,
including the County of New York.
21.

IKON integrates im aging system s a nd services that help businesses

manage document workflow and increase efficiency. IKON is an independent distributor
of copier and printer technologies and serv ice support. IKON also provides a range of
document management services, including outso urcing and professional services, on-site
copy and mailroom management, fleet management, off-site digital printing solutions and
customized workflow, and imaging application development.
22.

IKON e mploys approxim ately 30,250

throughout the United States. In Fiscal

individuals in 600 locations

Year 2003, IKON earned revenues of $4.7

billion.
23.

IKON possesses either actual or cons

direction over the operation of

tructive control, oversight and

its individua l f acilities in New York State, including

individual facility employment practices.
IV.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
24.

Jurisdiction over Defendant IKON is properly vested under Title VII of

the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e)-5(f), et seq. and 23 U.S.C. § 1981.
IKON regularly does business in New York and has nu merous offices throughout Ne w
York.
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Venue is proper in this Court because IKON transacts business in the State

and City of New York a nd the events giving ri se to this claim occurred in the State of
New York. Class Representatives all currently reside in New York and Plaintiff Edward
Anderson continues to work for IKON in New Yo rk. Absent the vi olations of federal
and state law com plained of herein, Plaint iffs St. Clare R osenberg, Wayne Anderson,
Charles Washington, and Edward A nderson would have continued to work for IK ON in
New York. Most of the records pertaining to the Class Representatives’ employment are
or were maintained in New York.
V.

ALLEGATIONS OF THE CLASS REPRESENTATIVES
(a)

Class Representative St. Clare Rosenberg

26.

Plaintiff St. Clare Rosen berg (“Mr. Rosenberg”) is an African Am erican

resident of Brooklyn, New York.
27.

Mr. Rosenberg was hired by IKON in approximately August of 2002.
Hostile Work Environment

25.

During Mr. Rosenberg’s em ployment at IKON, he was subjected to a

gauntlet of racial discrimination and hostile tre atment, encompassing denial of equal pay
and promotion, harassment and a hostile work environment.
26.

For example, Mr. Rosenberg observed pi ctures of African Americans with

the white faces of account m anagers pasted on them. Mr. Rosenberg complained to his
supervisor, Michael Caproni (“Mr . Caproni”), that the pictures were offensive to Africa n
American employees, but the situation continued.
27.

Another incident of racism at IKON occurred when June Caproni (“Ms.

Caproni”) said that Mr. Rosenberg looke

d liked Hitler. A
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Monifa Blount, found a picture of Mr. Rosenber g with “H itler” written across it. It was
posted in p lain view of other em ployees and the word “ Hitler” was written in Ms.
Caproni’s writing. Mr. Rosenberg did not co

mplain ab out the incident because his

supervisor had made it clear that nothing would be done to redress racial discrimination.
Denial of Pay and Promotion
28.

White em ployees were given insi

opportunities whereas African

de inform ation on prom

otional

American em ployees, including Mr. Rosenberg, w

ere

simply told to work hard and they would “eventually” get promoted.
29.

Mr. Rosenb erg applied for every Account Man ager pos ition that op ened

during his tim e at IKON. Mr. Rosenberg was th e most qualified applicant as to the last
four positions for which he ap plied. Instead, white employees from outside the company
were hired to fill those positions.
30.

White employees were given the best clients whereas Mr. Rosenberg was

given the worst.
31.

Mr. Rosenberg asked to enroll in a training class for Account Managers.

Candidates for the class were required to study materials to qualify for enrollment. While
Mr. Rosenberg was told to study his m aterials on his lunch hour, a white CSR, Brian
Marsh, was given study tim e during work, went to the class, and was subsequently made
a Manager.
32.

Upon hearing of Mr.

Rosenberg ’s am bition to become an Acco

unt

Manager, Supervisor Caproni discouraged Mr. Rosenberg by claiming that some Account
Managers were forced to leave the com pany because it was difficult work. Mr. Caproni
added that b ecause he (Caproni) was “not a good Account Manager, ” he was hesitant to
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let Mr. Rosenberg move up or give him the recommendations needed to do so.
Retaliation
33.

After Mr. Rosenberg asked for a prom otion to Account Manager, IKON

retaliated ag ainst h im. On occasion s when Mr. Rosenberg was tardy f or work, he was
singled out for harsh discipline in front of th e other employees or sent hom e from work.
When a white employee, Thomas Dasille (“Mr. Dasille”), was habitually late, Mr. Dasille
was either not disciplined or spoken to in a closed office.
34.

While Mr. Rosenberg was subjected to disc ipline for even the most trivial

matters, white em ployees could com mit m ajor infractions w ith few repercussions. For
example, Tim Franklin (“Mr. Fran klin”), a white em ployee, left a com pany vehicle
unattended and running, and as a result the vehicle was stole n. Mr. Franklin received
only a written warning. On another occa sion, a white account m anager, Mark Ardere,
painted a Customer Service Manager’s office pink and was not disciplined.
(b)

Class Representative Wayne Anderson

35.

Plaintiff Wayne Anders on (“Mr. Anderson”) is an African Am

erican

resident of Bronx, NY.
36.

Plaintiff Anderson was hired in Nove mber, 2002 as a driver/CSR in the

company’s Norfolk, VA shop.
Hostile Work Environment
37.

In Virginia, Mr. Anderson was subjected to the indignity of being called

“boy” by his then m

anager, Caucasian m ale Randy Gay. Despite Mr. Anderson’s

complaint to m ore senior m anagement, upon inf ormation and belief, IK ON did not take
any disciplinary action against Mr. Gay.

9

Case 1:05-cv-09131-PAC Document 6

Filed 08/03/06 Page 10 of 48

Denial of Equal Pay and Promotion
38.

In Decem ber, 2003 Mr. Anderson m et with IKON’s Sales Manager, at

which time Mr. Anderson expressed an interest in becoming an Account Manager in New
York. Mr. Anderson was advise d that he would need m ore training in New York as a
CSR in order to qualif y for the Account Manager position. Mr. Anderson thereafter
moved to New York and continued working for IKON.
39.

During the following months, Mr. Anderson performed ably as a CSR, his

work performance was excellent and he received superior reviews.
40.

Mr. Anderson subsequently inquired a bout the possibility of advancing to

become an Account Manager. Defendant’s New York m anager informed Mr. Anderson
that if an Account Manage r position became open, IKON wo uld consider Mr. Anderson.
When such Account Manager po

sitions beca me available on at least three different

occasions from 2004 through 2005, however, IKON did not consider Mr. Anderson at all.
Instead, Defendant IKON awarded the Account Manager job to white IKON e mployees
or white outsiders.
41.

To add insult to injury, IKON awa rded open Account Manager jobs to

white employees who had less experience a nd qualifications than Mr. Anderson, and/or
without req uiring them to undergo the p re-qualification form alities required for the
position.
Retaliation
42.

After working in New York and witn essing the prom otions of whites to

Account Manager positions, Mr. Anderson compla ined in writing to his white m anager,
Kevin Melv ille. Rath er than acknowledge the Com pany’s discriminatory actions, Mr.
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Melville thr eatened Mr . Anderson by preventing Mr.

Anderson from leaving Mr.

Melville’s office, and telling Mr. Anderson th at he (Melville) did not need Anderson’s
approval to make hiring decisions.
43.

Realizing th at he had n o f uture in this ra cially-hostile envir onment, Mr.

Anderson left the company, in effect being constructively discharged.
(c)

Class Representative Charles Washington

44.

Plaintiff Charles Washington (“Mr. Washington”) is an African Am erican

of Cuban descent. He resides in Yonkers, New York.
45.

Mr. Washington was hired by IKON as a Field Service Representative in

approximately June of 2005. He began

working for IK ON at the IKON account at

Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe, a law firm located at 666 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY.
Hostile Work Environment
46.

During Mr. W ashington’s em ployment at IKON, he wa

s repeatedly

subjected to degrading epithets and comment s by his supervisor, Sergio Torres (“ Mr.
Torres”). Mr. Torres

consis tently referr ed to African

Am ericans, including Mr.

Washington, as “niggers,” and told Mr. W ashington to his f ace that he was an “up pity
nigger.”
47.

While Mr. Torres of ten called M r. Washington a “nigger,” Mr. Torres

once said that Mr. Washington should in

stead be called a “Black

” because Mr.

Washington is educated.
48.

After Mr. Washington m oved to Y onkers, New York, Mr. Torres further

denigrated him by telling him that he was a black man trying to be a white man.
49.

Though IKON m anagers were aware of Mr. Torres’ bias against African
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Americans and dark-skinned Hispanics, they tu rned a blin d eye to th e rac ially h ostile
work environm ent. Mr. Torres was not disc

iplined f or his rac ially disc riminatory

remarks against Mr. Washington and his African American colleagues.
Denial of Pay and Promotion
50.

In addition to enduring a near-da

ily onslaught of racial slurs, Mr.

Washington was also prevented from earning overtime wages, resulting in a signif icant
loss of pay. Supervisor Torres often rem

oved African Am erican employees’ n ames,

including Mr. Washington’s, from Saturday overtime schedules, and replaced them with
those of non-African Am

erican co-workers , thereby preventing African Am

erican

employees from earning Saturday overtime pay.
51.

Mr. Washington complained about this practice to Site Manager Dam ian

Lampariello (“Mr. Lam pariello”), who, upon in formation and belief, did nothing to
discipline Torres nor address the situation.
Retaliation
52.

After Mr. Washington com plained to Mr. Lampariello about his loss of

overtime and Torres’ other discrim inatory actions against A frican American employees,
Mr. Lam pariello retaliated against Mr. W ashington. Upon infor mation and belief, Mr.
Lampariello complained about Mr. Washington to IKON’s Human Resource Department,
calling him “disruptive.”
53.

Mr. Lampariello also ch anged Mr. Washington’s shif t. Th e shift change

forced Mr. Washington to arra nge for alternative care for his children or take time off to
provide care for them himself. As a result, Mr. Washington lost a significant portion of
his income.
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Though Mr. W ashington attem pted to a ddress his allegations of racial

discrimination with his supervisors, hu man resource personnel and IKON’s in-house
dispute resolution service, Network, he did not receive a satisfactory response.
55.

After enduring hostile work conditions, discriminatory pay and retaliation,

Mr. Washington filed a com plaint of e mployment discrimination against IKON wit h the
New York State Division of Human Rights on October 18, 2005.
56.

Following h is f ormal com plaint with the New York State Division o f

Human Rights, Mr. W ashington was m oved to another IKON facility in the late fall of
2005. Mr. Washington, the victim of racial di scrimination, was forced to relocate, while
Mr. Torres, the perpetrator, was allowed to remain without incurring any penalty.
57.

Though IKON m

oved Mr. W

ashington to another facility, Mr.

Washington found no relief

from IKON’s discrim ination against him self and other

African Am ericans. Mr. W

ashington was

singled out and disciplined for m

inor

infractions that were tolerated when comm itted by his non-African American colleagues.
Mr. Washington was eventually rem oved from this second IKON facility on the pretext
of tardiness.
58.

IKON offered Mr. W ashington a pos ition at a third IKON facility, but

again offered him a shift that did no t accommodate his childcare needs. Mr. Washington
did not accept this transfer offer, believing that the only way to escape IKON’s racial
discrimination would be to leave the company altogether.
59.

Mr. Washington resigned from IKON in December 2005.
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(d)

Class Representative Edward Anderson

60.

Plaintiff Edward Anders on (“Mr. Anderson”) is an African Am

erican

resident of Staten Island, New York.
61.

Mr. Anderson was hired by IKON in October 2001 as a Ke y Operator. In

2005, he was transferred to the IKON account

at Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe, a law

firm located at 666 F ifth Avenue, New York, NY. He resigned from IKON on March 9,
2006.
Hostile Work Environment
62.

Throughout Mr. Anderson’s career at I

KON, he has been subjected to

harassment from his m anagers because of his race. Mr. Anderson’s firs t manager, Josh
Riviera (“Mr. Riviera”) conti nually threaten ed to fire Mr. Anderson if Mr. Anderson
made any errors in his wor k. Mr. Anderson made repeated requests to be transferred
from Mr. Riviera’s supervision. Though ot her non-black employees were granted their
transfer req uests in a tim ely m anner, Mr. Anderson was not transferred for m ore than
three years.
63.

Mr. Anderson only encountered further r acial hostility when he m oved to

the IKON account at Orrick, Herrington & Sutcli ffe. His supervisor, Sergio Torres (“Mr.
Torres”) regularly used racial slurs in refe rence to Mr. Anderson, Mr. Anderson’s former
colleague Charles Washington, and their other African American colleagues.
64.

Specifically, Mr. Torres referred to Mr . Anderson as a “low class black”

and “bad nigger,” in comparison to Mr. W ashington, whom Mr. Torres called a “high
class black” and “good nigger.”
65.

Mr. Torres also m ade references to “the ghetto” around Mr. Anderson,
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which Mr. Anderson found highly offensive.
66.

On the job, Mr. Anderson was subject

to in tense scru tiny f rom IKON’s

management while his non-black colleagues ha d the f reedom to take lo ng lunches, lef t
work early and read th e paper while on the com pany clock. No such flexibility

was

extended to Mr. Anderson; he was the only employee who must clock out for lunch.
67.

In addition, Mr. Anderson was discipli ned for m inor violations that are

tolerated when committed by non-black employees.
68.

When Mr. Anderson suffered a back injury on the job and took short-term

medical leave to recup erate, Mr. T orres al leged that Mr. Anderson’s doctor’s note was
fake. After Mr. Anderson’s back injury

in fall 2005, Mr. Ande

rson had to provide

detailed explanations to his superiors when he r equested time off. Mr. Anderson’s nonAfrican American co-workers can request time off without an explanation.
Denial of Pay and Promotion
69.

Mr. Anderson also suffered from

a lack of equal pay and prom

otion

opportunities. Though Mr. A nderson is unmarried, IKON de ducted a life insurance
premium for a spouse from his bi-weekly paycheck. Mr. A nderson’s efforts to redress
this error were initially rebuffed.
70.

Additionally, Mr. Anderson was unable to earn a prom otion in the four

years he has worked at IKON. Non-African

Am erican employees of equal or lesser

ability earned prom otions without difficu lty. Though Mr. A nderson’s work was praised
by the attorneys at Orrick, Herrington

& Sutcliffe, his job

unrecognized and unrewarded at IKON.
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Retaliation
71.

After Mr. Anderson participated in an

internal IKON investigation into

Plaintiff Charles Washington’s complaint of race discrimination, IKON retaliated against
Mr. Anderson. Though Mr. Ande rson was told his pa rticipation would be confidential,
his managers and colleagues learned of his involvement.
72.

Mr. Anderson’s supervisor even aske d Mr. Anderson about his discussion

with the Human Resources representative conducting the investigation, Nadine Lauzon.
73.

After his participation in the i

nvestigation, Mr. Anderson’s non-black

colleagues becam e noticeab ly co ld to h im a nd m anagement intens ified its d isparate
treatment of Mr. Anderson and other Afri can A merican employees. O n Decem ber 23,
2005, Mr. Anderson and another black em ployee we re m ade to stay the full length of
their shifts while their non-black colleagues all left their shifts early.
74.

In the winter of 2006, Mr. Anderson was informed that IKON would no

longer manage the account at Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe as of March 2006. Tho ugh
several of Mr. Anderson’s co

-workers were contacted a bout job transfers, no such

transfer was extended to Mr. Anderson. Supervisor Torres alleged that Mr. Anderson
would not be offered a transfer and would e ffectively lose his position with IKON as of
March 2006.
75.

As Mr. Torres alleged, IKON ultim ately did not of fer Mr. Anderson a

transfer, though other IKON e

mployees we re m oved to other accounts with the

company’s aid. Faced with im pending une mployment, Mr. Anders on resigned from
IKON on March 9, 2006.
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Class Definition

Under Rule 23 of the Federal Ru

les of Civil Procedure, Class

Representatives St. Clare Rosenb erg, W ayne Anderson, Charles Washington, and
Edward Anderson seek to m aintain claim s on behalf of them selves and on behalf of a
class of IKON’s current, former and future African American employees who worked for
the company in New York City and New York State. Class Representatives are members
of the proposed class.
77.

The class consists of all African

Americans who are, or have been,

employed by IKON in the State of New York at any tim e during the applicable liability
period. Upon inform ation and belief, there are hundreds of m embers of the proposed
class.
(c)
78.

Numerosity and Impracticability of Joinder

The person s whom Cl ass Representatives seek to repres

ent are too

numerous to m ake joinder practicable. Th e proposed class consists of over one hundred
former, current, and future African Am erican applicants and employees who have been,
are, or will be em ployed by IKON. IKON’s pattern and pract ice of racial discrim ination
also m akes joinder im practicable by discouraging African A mericans from applying or
pursuing employm ent opportunities, thereby

making it impractical

and inefficient to

identify many members of the class prior to determination of the merits of IKON’s classwide liability.
(d)
79.

Common Questions of Law and Fact

The prosecution of the claims of the Class Representatives will require the
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and fact common to both their individual

claims and those of th e clas s th ey seek to represent. The common questions of law
include, inter alia , (i) w hether Defendant’s racially di scriminatory practices have been,
and continue to be, sufficiently severe or perv asive to create an environm ent that is b oth
subjectively and objectively r

acially hos tile and abusive; (ii) whether Defendant

tolerated, condoned, ratified and/or engaged in

the hostile environment, or, in the

alternative, knew, or should have known, of its existence
action; (iii) whether IKON denied its Af

and failed to take rem edial

rican Am erican em ployees equal pay and

promotion opportunities; and (iv) whether the company retaliated against employees who
complained about the racist treatment permeating IKON. The common questions of fact
include, inter alia, whether th e Defendant’s practices and procedures fostered and/or
resulted in (i) a working

environment heavily charged

with racial discrim ination,

resulting largely from the ram pant racial harassment and the use of racial slurs, epithets
and stereotypes, and (ii) m anagement’s awar eness of, participation in and/or lack of
response to the hostile working conditions.
80.

The disc riminatory trea tment to whic h Class Representatives have been

subjected is m anifested by such policies and/ or patterns or practi ces as denying African
American employees desirable promotional

opportunities, job as signments, training,

management positions, com pensation, bonuses, and other benefits an

d condition s of

employment on the same terms applied to white employees.
81.

In particular, IKON de ters African Am erican em ployees from seeking

promotions, management positions, and desirabl e job assignments; fails to select African
Americans f or desirab le job assig nments and position s; and f ails to enf orce polic ies
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prohibiting racial discrimination and retaliation.
82.

As a result of the ille gal policy a nd/or patter ns or prac tices desc ribed

herein, African Am erican em ployees hold a di sproportionate share of the lowest level
positions, are den ied equal term s and conditions of em ployment and have not been
allowed to advance to better positions.
83.

IKON has c reated and m aintained a system -wide em ployment policy of

race-based disparate treatm ent, which lim its the em ployment opportunities for African
Americans in various aspects of IKON’s employment operation including, but not limited
to, job selections. IK ON’s selection practic es and procedures ha ve had a disparate
impact on the Plaintiffs and the class they seek to represent.
84.

This action in part seeks to enjoin

policies and/or practices that have injured a

IKON fro m pursuing specific illegal

nd continue to injure

Plaintiffs and other

African American employees and applicants for employment with IKON in all aspects of
IKON’s employment operations.
85.

IKON’s illegal policy is prem

ised on an invidious and racially

discriminatory anim us directed against African Am erican employees. It is specifically
calculated to deny African Am

erican em ployees equal treatm ent and opportunities

guaranteed by 42 U.S.C. §2000 et seq. and 42 U.S.C § 1981, New Yor k State Executive
Law, § 296, subd. 1(a), and N.YC. Administrative Code, § 8-107, subd. 1(a).
(e)
85.

Typicality of Relief Sought

The claim s of the Class Representative s are typ ical of the claim s of the

proposed class. Discrimination in the form of a hostile work environment, retaliation and
denial of equal pay and prom otions occurs as a pattern and practi ce throughout all levels
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cilities and adversely affects all Class

Representatives and members of the class. In particular, IKON subjects its employees to
a working environment heavily charged with racial discrimination, resulting largely from
rampant racial harassm ent and the use of r

acial s lurs, ep ithets and s tereotypes, and

condones m anagement’s awareness of, participa tion in and/or lack of response to the
hostile working conditions. The s ystemic raci al harassm ent and racially hostile work
environment described in this Complaint is, and has been, continuing in nature.
86.

The relief sought by the Class Repres

and harassm ent complained of herein is also

entatives for racial discrim ination

typical of the relief which is sought on

behalf of the proposed class. The Class Representatives seek a perm anent injunction and
other equitable relief necessa ry to undo the effects of the Defendant’s past racial
discrimination and harassm ent and prevent
adversely affect their lives and careers,

such discrimination from continuing to

including, but not lim

ited to, affirmative

restructuring of the Defendant’s p ractices a nd procedures that currently result in the
racially hos tile and unequal wor

k environment at IK

ON’s New York f

acilities;

reimbursement of expenses incurred in prosecu ting this action; and atto rneys’ fees. The
Class Representatives f urther seek dam ages, back-pay and other

equitable rem edies

necessary to make the members of the class whole.
87.

The relief n ecessary to rem edy the clai ms of the Class Rep resentatives is

the same as that necess ary for the class. Class Representatives seek the following relief
for their individual claim s and those of the cl ass: 1) a declaratory judgment that IKON
has engaged in systemic racial discrimination in limiting the employment opportunities of
African Americans to lower classifications and compensation; 2) a declaratory judgm ent
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ainst African Am ericans and non-African

American employees who speak out in opposi tion against race disc rimination at IKON;
3) a permanent injunction against su ch continuing discrimination as described in (1) and
(2) above; 4) restructuring of IKON’s selection and com pensation procedures so that
African Americans are able to learn about and fairly comp ete in the future for better
classifications, com pensation levels, a

nd term s and

conditions of e

mployment

traditionally enjoyed by white em ployees; 5) restructuring of IKON’s workforce so that
African Americans are assigned to the clas sifications, locations and compensation levels
they would have now h eld in the absence of IKON’s past racial discrim ination; and 6)
damages, back-pay, and other equitabl

e rem edies necessary to m

Representatives and the class they seek

to represent whol

ake Class

e from IKON’s past

discrimination and retaliation.
(f)
88.

Adequacy of Representation

The Class Representatives’ interes ts are co-ex tensive with those of the

members of the proposed class which they seek

to represent in this case. The C

lass

Representatives seek to remedy the racially hostile work environment at IKON so that all
employees can enjoy their right to w ork in an environment free of r acial discrimination.
The Class Representatives are willing and able to represent the propos ed class fairly and
vigorously as they pursue their sim

ilar indi vidual claim s in this action. The Class

Representatives have retained counsel who are qualified, experienced and able to conduct
this litigation and m eet the tim e and fiscal demands required to litigate an em ployment
discrimination class action of this size an

d com plexity. The co mbined interests,

experience and resources of the Class Repres
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competently the ind ividual and class claim s at issue in this case clearly satisfy the
adequacy of representation requirement of Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a)(4).
89.

The interests of Class Representative s are coextensiv e with those of the

class in that each seek s to rem edy IKON’s discrim inatory employment practices so that
(1) racially hostile cond itions of work will be eradicated and African Americans will no
longer be consigned to lower paying positions and prevented from obtaining promotional
opportunities, and (2) retaliation against African Am

ericans em ployees will be

eradicated. Class Repre sentatives a re able and willing to r epresent the class f airly and
vigorously, as they pursue their common goals through this action. Plaintiffs’ counsel are
also qualified, experienced, and able to condu ct the litigation and to meet the tim e and
fiscal demands required to litigate an employment discrimination class action of this size
and com plexity. The com

bined interest, experience and resources of Class

Representatives and their counsel to litigate competently the individual and class claim s
of race-based em ployment discrimination at issue, satisfy the adequacy of representation
requirement of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(4).
(f)
90.

Efficiency of Class Prosecution of Common Claims

Certification of a class of Af rican Am ericans s imilarly situ ated to C lass

Representatives is the most efficient and ec onomical means of resolving the questions of
law and fact common to the individual claims of the Class Representatives and the class.
91.

The individual claim s of Class Repr esentatives require resolution of the

common qu estions of (1) whether IKON has e

ngaged in a system ic pattern of racia l

discrimination, harassm ent and the im position of a hostile work env

iroment against

African Americans; and (2) wh ether IKON has engaged in a pa ttern of retaliation against
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African American employees who speak out in opposition of race discrimination.
92.

Class Representatives seek rem edies to undo the adverse ef fects of such

discrimination in their own lives, career and working conditions and to prevent continued
racial discrimination and retaliation in the future.
93.

Class Representatives have standing to seek such relief (1) in part becau se

of the adverse effect that racial discrimination against African Americans has had on their
own interests in working and living in conditions free from the pernicious effects of racial
bias and ho stility, and (2) in part because of

th e adverse ef fect that retaliation ag ainst

African Americans has had on their own interest in working and living in conditions free
from the pernicious effects of re taliation. In order to gain such relief for them selves, as
well as for the class m embers, Class Representatives must first establish the existence of
systemic racial d iscrimination and retaliatio n as the p remise of the relief th ey s eek.
Without class certification, th e same evidence and issues w ould be subject to repeated
relitigation in a m ultitude of indiv idual lawsuits with an a ttendant r isk of incons istent
adjudications and conflicting obligations.
94.

Certification of the clas s of Af rican Am ericans affected by the comm on

question of law and fact is the m ost effici ent and jud icious m eans of presentin g the
evidence and argument necessary to resolve such questions for the Class Representatives,
the class and the Defendant.
95.

The individual and class claims of the Class Representatives are prem ised

upon the traditional bifurcated m

ethod of pr oof and trial for disparate im

pact and

systemic disparate treatment claims of the typ e at issue in this Clas s Complaint. Such a
bifurcated m ethod of proof a nd trial is the most efficien
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common issues.
(g)
96.

Certification is Proper under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2)

IKON has acted on grounds generally applicable to the class by adopting

and following systemic practices and procedures which are racially discriminatory.
97.

IKON’s racial discrimination is its standard operating procedure rather

than a sporadic occurrence. IKON has refuse d to act on grounds generally applicable to
the class by refusing to adopt or follow sel ection and compensation procedures which do
not have disparate im pact or otherw ise do no t systemically discriminate against African
Americans and by refusing to establish condition s of work that are not hostile to African
American employees who oppose the racial discrimination at IKON.
(h)
98.

Certification is Proper under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3)

The common issues of fact and la w affecting the claims of Mr. Rosenberg,

Mr. W ayne Anderson, Mr. W ashington, Mr . Edward Anderson and proposed class
members predom inate o ver any is sues affec ting only individual clai ms. These issues
include whether IKON has enga ged in racial discrim ination against African Am ericans
employed by Defendant in New York Stat

e by denying such em ployees equal pay,

promotion and advancem ent, and whether I KON has retaliated against these em ployees
and tolerated an atm osphere of racist hosti lity and harassm ent against African American
employees.
99.

A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient

adjudication of the claim s of the Class Re presentatives and m embers of the proposed
class.
100.

Because of the prohibitive cost of proving IKON’s pattern and practice of
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discrimination, it is im practicable for the Clas s Representatives and the class to control
the prosecution of their claims individually.

COUNT I
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964,
42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e), et seq., AS AMENDED
RACIALLY HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant)
101.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in e ach and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
102.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

103.

Defendant have subjected the Class

Representatives and the clas s to a

racially hos tile work environm ent in violat ion of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§2000(e), et seq.
104.

Defendant have denied Class Repres entatives a nd m embers of the c lass

their personal right to work in an environment free of racial discrimination.
105.

Defendant’s racially discrim inatory pr actices have been, and continue to

be, sufficiently severe or pervasiv e to create an environment that is both subjectively and
objectively hostile and abusive, and the

Defendant has tolera ted, condoned, ratified

and/or engaged in the hostile work environm ent, or, in the alternative, knew, or should
have known, of its existence and failed to take remedial action.
106.

By reason of the continuous nature of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct

persisting throughout the em ployment of Class Representati ves and the m embers of the
class, Class Representatives and the m embers of the class ar e entitled to applica tion of
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the continuing violations doctrine to all violations herein.
107.

Defendant’s conduct in violation of T itle VII has injured and damaged the

Class Representatives and the class.
108.

The Class Representatives and the members of the class have suffered and

continue to suffer harm , including, but not limited to, a w orking environm ent heavily
charged with racial discrim ination, resulting largely from the ram pant racial harassment
and the use of racial slu rs, epithets and stereotypes, displaying of racist photographs, and
management’s awareness of, pa rticipation in and/or lack

of response to the hostile

working conditions.
109.

By reason of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Class Representatives

and the c lass are en titled to all lega l and equi table rem edies available f or violations of
Title VII, including an award for punitive damages.
110.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(k).

COUNT II
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964,
42 U.S.C. §§ 2000(e), et seq., AS AMENDED
RACE DISCRIMINATION – PAY AND PROMOTION
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant)
111.

Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each an

d

every allegation con tained in each and ever y aforementioned paragraph as though fully
set forth herein.
112.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

113.

Class Representatives and the clas s th ey seek to represent have been

subject to system ic racial discrim ination including, but not lim ited to, a pattern and
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practice of intentional discrim ination and a host of practices having unlawful disparate
impact on their em ployment opportunities. Th e system ic means of accom plishing such
racial discrim ination include, but are not lim ited to, IKON’s selection procedures, and
unequal terms and conditions of employment.
114.

IKON’s selection and compensation pr ocedures incorporate the following

racially discrim inatory pr actices: 1) reliance upon subjec

tive procedures and criteria

which permit and encourage the incorporation of racial s tereotypes and bias of IK ON’s
predominantly white m anagerial staf f; 2) ref usal to estab lish or f ollow polic ies,
procedures, or criteria th at reduce or elim inate disparate im pact and/or intentional racial
bias or stereotypes in IKON’s decision making process; 3) pr e-selection of whites before
vacancies o r opportunities b ecome known; and 4) d iscouragement of applications and
expressions of interest by African Am ericans through a reputation for racial bias, racially
hostile conditions of work, a nd unequal term s and conditions of em ployment in such
areas as work hours and position assignments.
115.

IKON’s selection procedures have

a disparate im pact on the African

American Plain tiffs and the clas s they repres ent. Such procedures are not valid,

job

related or justified by business necessity. There are objective and structured selection and
compensation procedures available to IKON wh ich have less disparate impact on African
Americans and equal or greater validity a nd job relatedness, but IKON has refused to
consider or to use such procedures.
116.

IKON’s selection procedures ha

ve adversely affected Class

Representatives by excluding Af rican Americans from traditionally white positions, and
denying Plaintiffs equal pay with white employees.
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IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified discrim ination

which constitutes a continuing violation of Ti tle VII of the Civil Ri ghts Act of 1964, 42
U.S.C. §§2000e, et seq., as amended.
118.

Plaintiffs and the class have no plain, adequate, or complete remedy of law

to redress the wrongs alleged herein, and this suit for back-pay, an injunction for other
equitable relief, and a declar atory judgm ent is their only means of se curing adequate
equitable relief. The Class Representatives are now suffering and will continue to suffer
irreparable injury from IKON’s unlawful policie s and practices as set forth herein unless
enjoined by this Court.
119.

By reason of IKON’s discrim inatory employment practices, Plaintiffs and

the m embers of the proposed class have e xperienced econom ic har m, including loss of
compensation, back and front pay, other em

ployment benefits, and emotional harm ,

anguish and humiliation.
120.

By reason of the discrim ination suffered at IKON, Class Representatives

and the m embers of the proposed class are en titled to all legal and equitable rem edies
available under Title VII.
121.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(k).

COUNT III
VIOLATIONS OF TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964,
42 U.S.C. § 2000e(k), AS AMENDED
RETALIATION
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant)
122.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
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fully set forth herein.
123.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

124.

IKON has retaliated against Class Repr esentatives and the members of the

proposed class because they insisted upon a work environment free of race discrimination
and/or because they complained about race discrimination.
125.

IKON has retaliated against Class Repr esentatives and the members of the

proposed class by subjecting them to retali atory e mployment actio ns, including but not
limited to, denying them prom otions for whic h they were qualified and subjecting the m
to disparate term s and conditions of e mployment, race discrim ination, a hostile work
environment and/or other forms of discrimination in violation of Title VII.
126.

IKON’s actions were intentional, delib erate, willful, m alicious, reckless

and conducted in callous disregard of causing
Rosenberg, Class Representative W

harm to Class Representative St. Clare

ayne Anderson, Class Representative Charles

Washington, Class Representative E dward Anderson and the m embers of the proposed
class.
127.

IKON has continuously engaged i

n, condoned and ratified retaliation

which construes a continuing viola tion of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42
U.S. C. §§ 2000e, et seq., as amended.
128.

As a direct and proximate result of IKON’s aforementioned conduct, Class

Representatives and the m embers of the proposed class were dam aged and suffered
economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
129.

By reason of the retaliation suffered at IKON, Class Representatives and

the m embers of the pr oposed class are entitl ed to all legal and equitable remedies
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available under Title VII.
130.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(k).
COUNT IV

VIOLATIONS OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866,
42 U.S.C. § 1981, AS AMENDED
RACIALLY HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant
131.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
132.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

133.

Defendant has subjected the Class Re

presentatives and the class to

a

racially hostile work environment in violation of § 1981.
134.

Defendant has denied Class Represen tatives a nd members of the class

their personal right to work in an environment free of racial discrimination.
135.

Defendant’s racially discrim inatory pr actices have been, and continue to

be, sufficiently severe or pervasiv e to create an environment that is both subjectively and
objectively hostile and abusive, and the

Defendant has tolera ted, condoned, ratified

and/or engaged in the hostile work environm ent, or, in the alternative, knew, or should
have known, of its existence and failed to take remedial action.
136.

By reason of the continuous nature of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct

persisting throughout the em ployment of Class Representati ves and the m embers of the
class, Class Representatives and the m embers of the class ar e entitled to applica tion of
the continuing violations doctrine to all violations herein.
137.

Defendant’s conduct in violation of § 1981 has injured and dam aged the
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Class Representatives and the class.
138.

Class Representatives and the m embers of the class hav e suffered and

continue to suffer harm , including, but not limited to, a w orking environm ent heavily
charged with racial discrim ination, resulting largely from the ram pant racial harassment
and the use of racial slu rs, epithets and stereotypes, displaying of racist photographs, and
management’s awareness of, pa rticipation in and/or lack

of response to the hostile

working conditions.
139.

By reason of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Class Representatives

and the clas s are entitle d to all lega l and equ itable remedies available for violations of §
1981, including an award for punitive damages.
140.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(k).
COUNT V

VIOLATIONS OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866,
42 U.S.C. § 1981, AS AMENDED
PAY AND PROMOTION
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant)
141.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
142.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

143.

Defendant has denied Class Representa tives and members of the clas s the

same right to m ake and enforce contracts

as enjoyed by white citizens em ployed by

IKON, including rights involving the making, performance, modification and termination
of contracts with Defendant, as well as the

enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, term s
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and conditions of that relationship, in violation of the Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 U.S.C
§ 1981, as amended.
144.

In the em ployment practices descri bed above, Defendant intentionally

engaged in discrim inatory practices with malice or with r eckless indif ference to the
federally protected rights of Class Repr

esentatives an d the clas s, entitling Class

Representatives and the class to punitive damages.
145.

By reason of the continuous nature of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct

persisting throughout the employment of Class Representatives and members of the class,
Class Representative S t. Clare Rosenberg, Cl ass Representative Wayne Anderson, Class
Representative Charles Washington, Class

Representative Edwa rd Anderson and the

class a re en titled to ap plication of the cont inuing violations doctrin e to all violations
alleged herein.
146.

Defendant’s conduct in violation of § 1981 has injured and damaged Class

Representatives and the class.
147.

Class Representatives and the clas s ha ve suffered and continue to suffer

harm, including, but not lim ited to, lost earnings, lost benefits and other f inancial loss, as
well as humiliation, embarrassment, emotional and physical distress and mental anguish.
148.

By reason of Defendant’s discrim ination, C lass Representatives and the

class are entitled to all lega l and equitable rem edies available for violations of § 1981,
including an award of punitive damages.
149.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under § 1981, et seq.
COUNT VI
VIOLATIONS OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1866,
42 U.S.C. § 1981, AS AMENDED
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RETALIATION
(African American Class Representatives and Class against Defendant)
150.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
151.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

152.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class because they insisted upon a work environm ent free of
race discrimination and/or because they complained about race discrimination.
153.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class by subjecting

them to retaliatory em ployment actions,

including but not lim ited to, denying them promotions for which they were qualified and
subjecting them to disparate term s and condi tions of em ployment, race discrimination, a
hostile work environment and/or other forms of discrimination in violation of §1981.
154.

Defendant IKON’s actions were intenti onal, deliberate, willful, m alicious,

reckless and conducted in callous disregard of causing harm to Class Representatives and
the members of the proposed class.
155.

Defendant IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified

retaliation which construes a continuing violation of §1981.
156.

As a direct and proximate result of IKON’s aforementioned conduct, Class

Representatives and the m embers of the pr oposed class were dam aged and suffered
economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
157.

By reason of the retaliation suffered at IKON, Class Representatives and

the m embers of the pr oposed class are entitl ed to all legal and equitable remedies
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available under §1981.
158.

Attorneys’ fees should be awarded under 42 U.S.C. §2000e-5(k).
COUNT VII

VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW § 296, subd. 1(a)
RACIALLY HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT
(African American Class Representatives and the Class against Defendant)
159.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
160.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

161.

Defendant has subjected the Class Re

presentatives and the class to

a

racially hostile work environm ent in viol ation of New York Executive Law § 296, subd.
1(a).
162.

Defendant have denied Class Repres entatives a nd m embers of the c lass

their personal right to work in an environment free of racial discrimination.
163.

Defendant’s racially discrim inatory pr actices have been, and continue to

be, sufficiently severe or pervasiv e to create an environment that is both subjectively and
objectively hostile and abusive, and the

Defendant has tolera ted, condoned, ratified

and/or engaged in the hostile work environm ent, or, in the alternative, knew, or should
have known, of its existence and failed to take remedial action.
164.

By reason of the continuous nature of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct

persisting throughout the em ployment of Class Representati ves and the m embers of the
class, Class Representatives and the m embers of the class ar e entitled to applica tion of
the continuing violations doctrine to all violations herein.
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of New Yor k Executive Law § 296,

subd. 1(a) has injured and damaged the Class Representatives and the class.
166.

Class Representatives and the m embers of the class hav e suffered and

continue to suffer harm , including, but not limited to, a w orking environm ent heavily
charged with racial discrim ination, resulting largely from the ram pant racial harassment
and the use of racial slu rs, epithets and stereotypes, displaying of racist photographs, and
management’s awareness of, pa rticipation in and/or lack

of response to the hostile

working conditions.
167.

By reason of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Class Representatives

and the c lass are en titled to all lega l and equi table rem edies available f or violations of
New York Executive Law § 296, subd. 1(a), including an award of punitive damages and
attorneys’ fees.
COUNT VIII
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK STATE
EXECUTIVE LAW § 296, subd. 1(a)
RACE DISCRIMINATION – PAY AND PROMOTION
(African American Class Representatives and the Class against Defendant)
168.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
169.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

170.

Class Representatives and the clas s th ey seek to represent have been

subject to system ic racial discrim ination including, but not lim ited to, a pattern and
practice of intentional discrim ination and a host of practices having unlawful disparate
impact on their em ployment opportunities. Th e system ic means of accom plishing such
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racial discrim ination include, but are not lim ited to, IKON’s selection procedures, and
unequal term s and con ditions of employ ment. By these actions, Defendant IKON has
discriminated against th e Representative Plain tiffs and the Class in the term s, conditions
or privileges of em ployment, thereby violating New York Executive L aw § 296, subd.
1(a).
171.

Defendant IKON’s selection and compensation procedures incorporate the

following racially discrim inatory practices: 1 ) relian ce upo n subjective procedures and
criteria which perm it and encourag e the inco rporation of racial stereotypes and bias of
IKON’s predominantly white m anagerial staff; 2) refusal to establish or follow policies,
procedures, or criteria th at reduce or elim inate disparate im pact and/or intentional racial
bias or stereotypes in IKON’s decision making process; 3) pr e-selection of whites before
vacancies o r opportunities b ecome known; and 4) d iscouragement of applications and
expressions of interest by African Am ericans through a reputation for racial bias, racially
hostile conditions of work, a nd unequal term s and conditions of em ployment in such
areas as work hours and position assignments.
172.

Defendant IKON’s selection procedures have a disparate im pact on the

African American Plain tiffs and the class they represent. Such procedures are not valid,
job related or justified by business necessity. There are objective and structured selection
and com pensation procedures available to IKON which have less disparate im pact on
African Americans and equal or greater

validity and job rela tedness, but IKON has

refused to consider or to use such procedures.
173.

Defendant IKON’s selection procedures

have adversely

affected Class

Representatives by excluding Af rican Americans from traditionally white positions, and
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denying Class Representatives equal pay with white employees.
174.

Defendant IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified

discrimination which c onstitutes a continu ing viola tion of New York Executive Law §
296, subd. 1(a).

175.

Class Representatives have no plain, adequate, or complete remedy of law

to redress the wrongs alleged herein, and th

is suit for back-pay, an injunction other

equitable relief, and a declar atory judgm ent is their only means of se curing adequate
equitable relief. The Class Representatives are now suffering and will continue to suffer
irreparable injury from IKON’s unlawful policie s and practices as set forth herein unless
enjoined by this Court.
176.

By reason of IKON’s discrim

inatory em ployment practices, Class

Representatives and the members of the proposed class have experienced economic harm,
including loss of com pensation, back and fr ont pay, other em ployment benefits, and
emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
177.

By reason of the discrim ination suffe red at IKON, Class Representative

St. Clare Rosenberg, Class

Representative Wayne Ande rson, Class Representative

Charles W ashington, Class Representative Ed ward Anderson and the m embers of the
proposed class are entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under New York
Executive Law, including attorneys’ fees.
COUNT IX
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK EXECUTIVE LAW § 296, subd. 1(a)
RETALIATION
(African American Class Representatives against Defendant)
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Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
179.

This Count is brought on behalf of the Class Representatives and the class.

180.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class because they insisted upon a work environm ent free of
race discrimination and/or because they complained about race discrimination.
181.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class by subjecting

them to retaliatory em ployment actions,

including but not lim ited to, denying them promotions for which they were qualified and
subjecting them to disparate term s and condi tions of em ployment, race discrimination, a
hostile work environment and/or other form s of discrimination in violation of New York
Executive Law.
182.

Defendant IKON’s actions were intenti onal, deliberate, willful, m alicious,

reckless and conducted in callous disregard of causing harm to Class Representatives and
the members of the proposed class.
183.

Defendant IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified

retaliation which construes a continuing viol ation of New York Exec utive Law § 296,
subd. 1(a).
184.

As a direct and proximate result of IKON’s aforementioned conduct, Class

Representatives and the m embers of the pr oposed class were dam aged and suffered
economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
185.

By reason of the retaliation suffered at IKON, Class Representatives and
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the m embers of the pr oposed class are entitl ed to all legal and equitable remedies
available under New York Executive Law, including attorneys’ fees.
COUNT X
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK CITY
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE § 8-107, subd. 1(a)
RACIALLY HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT
(Asserted on behalf of IKON’s African American employees
who worked in Defendant’s New York City Facilities)
186.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
187.

This Count is brought on behalf of th e Class Representatives and the class

of Defendant IKON’s past, current and future African American employees employed by
IKON in the City of New York.
188.

Defendant has subjected the Class Re

presentatives and the class to

a

racially hostile work environm ent in violation of New York City Administrative C ode §
8-107, subd. 1(a).
189.

Defendant has denied Class Represen tatives a nd members of the class

their personal right to work in an environment free of racial discrimination.
190.

Defendant’s racially discrim inatory pr actices have been, and continue to

be, sufficiently severe or pervasiv e to create an environment that is both subjectively and
objectively hostile and abusive, and the

Defendant has tolera ted, condoned, ratified

and/or engaged in the hostile work environm ent, or, in the alternative, knew, or should
have known, of its existence and failed to take remedial action.
191.

By reason of the continuous nature of Defendant’s discriminatory conduct
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persistent throughout the em ployment of Cla ss Representatives and the m embers of the
class, Class Representatives and the m embers of the class ar e entitled to applica tion of
the continuing violations doctrine to all violations herein.
192.

Defendant’s conduct in violation of New York City Administrative Code §

8-107, subd. 1(a) has injured and damaged the Class Representatives and the class.
193.

Class Representatives and the m embers of the class hav e suffered and

continue to suffer harm , including, but not limited to, a w orking environm ent heavily
charged with racial discrim ination, resulting largely from the ram pant racial harassment
and the use of racial slu rs, epithets and stereotypes, displaying of racist photographs, and
management’s awareness of, pa rticipation in and/or lack

of response to the hostile

working conditions.
194.

By reason of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Class Representatives

and the c lass are en titled to all lega l and equi table rem edies available f or violations of
New York City Adm inistrative Code § 8- 107, subd. 1(a), including an award of punitiv e
damages and attorneys’ fees.
COUNT XI
VIOLATIONS OF N.Y.C. ADMINISTRATIVE CODE § 8-107, subd. 1(a)
PAY AND PROMOTION
(Asserted on behalf of IKON’s African American employees
who worked in Defendant’s New York City Facilities)
195.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
196.

This Count is brought on behalf of th e Class Representatives and the class

of Defendant IKON’s past, current and future African American employees employed by
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IKON in the City of New York.
197.

Class Representatives and the clas s th ey seek to represent have been

subject to system ic racial discrim ination including, but not lim ited to, a pattern and
practice of intentional discrim ination and a host of practices having unlawful disparate
impact on their em ployment opportunities. Th e system ic means of accom plishing such
racial discrim ination include, but are not lim ited to, IKON’s selection procedures, and
unequal term s and con ditions of employ ment. By these actions, Defendant IKON has
discriminated against th e Representative Plain tiffs and the Class in the term s, conditions
or privileges of e mployment, thereby violating New York City Adm inistrative Code § 8107, subd. 1(a).
198.

Defendant IKON’s selection and compensation procedures incorporate the

following racially discrim inatory practices: 1 ) relian ce upo n subjective procedures and
criteria which perm it and encourag e the inco rporation of racial stereotypes and bias of
IKON’s predominantly white m anagerial staff; 2) refusal to establish or follow policies,
procedures, or criteria th at reduce or elim inate disparate im pact and/or intentional racial
bias or stereotypes in IKON’s decision making process; 3) pr e-selection of whites before
vacancies o r opportunities b ecome known; and 4) d iscouragement of applications and
expressions of interest by African Am ericans through a reputation for racial bias, racially
hostile conditions of work, a nd unequal term s and conditions of em ployment in such
areas as work hours and position assignments.
199.

Defendant IKON’s selection procedures have a disparate im pact on the

African American Plain tiffs and the class they represent. Such procedures are not valid,
job related or justified by business necessity. There are objective and s tructured selection
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and com pensation procedures available to IKON which have less disparate im pact on
African Americans and equal or greater

validity and job rela tedness, but IKON has

refused to consider or to use such procedures.
200.

Defendant IKON’s selection procedures

have adversely affected Class

Representatives by excluding Af rican Americans from traditionally white positions, and
denying Class Representatives equal pay with white employees.
201.

Defendant IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified

discrimination which constitutes a continuing violation of New York City Administrative
Code § 8-107 subd. 1(a). IKON’s discrim inatory conduct has been deliberate, w anton
and willful. The Representa tive Plaintiffs and the cla ss of IKON’s New York City
employees are therefore entitled to rec over co mpensatory and punitiv e dam ages under
N.Y.C. Administrative Code § 8-502, subd. 1(a).
202.

Class Representatives have no plain, adequate, or complete remedy of law

to redress the wrongs alleged herein, and th

is suit for back-pay, an injunction other

equitable relief, and a declar atory judgm ent is their only means of se curing adequate
equitable relief. The Class Representatives are now suffering and will continue to suffer
irreparable injury from IKON’s unlawful policie s and practices as set forth herein unless
enjoined by this Court.
203.

By reason of IKON’s discrim

inatory em ployment practices, Class

Representatives and the members of the proposed class have experienced economic harm,
including loss of com pensation, back and fr ont pay, other em ployment benefits, and
emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
204.

By reason of the discrim ination suffe red at IKON, Class Representative
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Representative Wayne Ande rson, Class Representative

Charles W ashington, Class Representative Ed ward Anderson and the m embers of the
proposed class are entitled to all legal and equitable remedies available under New York
City Administrative Code § 8-107, subd. 1(a), including attorneys’ fees.
COUNT XII
VIOLATIONS OF NEW YORK CITY
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE § 8-107, subd. 1(a)
RETALIATION
(Asserted on behalf of IKON’s African American employees
who worked in Defendant’s New York City Facilities)
205.

Plaintiff-Class Representatives re-allege and incorporate by reference each

and every allegation contained in each and every aforem entioned paragraph as though
fully set forth herein.
206.

This Count is brought on behalf of th e Class Representatives and the class

of Defendant IKON’s past, current and future African American employees employed by
IKON in the City of New York.
207.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class because they insisted upon a work environm ent free of
race discrimination and/or because they complained about race discrimination.
208.

Defendant IKON has r etaliated agai nst Class Representatives and the

members of the proposed class by subjecting

them to retaliatory em ployment actions,

including but not lim ited to, denying them promotions for which they were qualified and
subjecting them to disparate term s and condi tions of em ployment, race discrimination, a
hostile work environment and/or other form s of discrimination in violation of New York
City Administrative Code.
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Defendant IKON’s actions were intenti onal, deliberate, willful, m alicious,

reckless and conducted in callous disregard of causing harm to Class Representatives and
the members of the proposed class.
210.

Defendant IKON has c ontinuously engaged in, condoned and ratified

retaliation which construes a continuing violation of New York City Administrative Code
§ 8-107, subd. 1(a).
211.

As a direct and proximate result of IKON’s aforementioned conduct, Class

Representatives and the m embers of the pr oposed class were dam aged and suffered
economic losses, mental and emotional harm, anguish and humiliation.
212.

By reason of the retaliation suffered at IKON, C lass Representatives and

the m embers of the pr oposed class are entitl ed to all legal and equitable remedies
available under New York City Administrative Code, including attorneys’ fees.

VII.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff-Class Representatives on behalf of them selves and the

class members whom they seek to represent request the following relief:
a.

Acceptance of jurisdiction of this cause;

b.

Certification of the case as a class action m

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Ru

aintainable under

le 23 (a), (b)(2 ) and /or (b )(3), on

behalf of the proposed pl aintiff class, and designa tion of Plaintiffs as
representatives of the class and their counsel of record as class counsel;
c.

A Declaration and Judg ment that Defendant IKON has v iolated

Plaintiffs’ rights under Title VII;
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A temporary injunction against Defendant IKO N and its partners,

officers, owners, agents , successors, em ployees, re presentatives and any
and all persons acting in

concert w ith it, from engaging in any further

unlawful practices, policies, cus toms, usages, racial discrim ination and
retaliation by defendant set forth herein;
e.

A permanent injunction against Defendant IKON and its partners,

officers, owners, agents , successors, em ployees, re presentatives and any
and all persons acting in

concert w ith it, from engaging in any further

unlawful practices, policies, cus toms, usages, racial discrim ination and
retaliation by defendant set forth herein;
e.

An Order requiring Defendant to initiate and implem ent programs

that (i) provide equal em ployment opportunities for African Am erican
employees; (ii) rem edy the effect of IKON’s past and present unlawful
employment practices ; and (iii) elim inate the continu ing effects of t he
discriminatory and retaliatory practices described above;
f.

An Order requiring Defendant to initiate and implement systems of

assigning, training, tran sferring, com pensating, and prom oting African
American employees in a non-discriminatory manner;
g.

An Order establishing a task fo

rce on equality and fairness to

determine the effectiveness of the program
above, which would provide for

s described in (e) and (f)

(i) the m onitoring, reporting, and

retaining of jurisdiction to ensure equal em ployment opportunity, (ii) the
assurance that injun ctive relief is properly implem ented, and (iii) a
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quarterly report setting forth informati on relevant to the determ ination of
the effectiveness of the programs described in (e) and (f), above;
h.

An Order restoring Class Repr

Class Representative Wayne Anders

esentative St. Clare Rosenberg,
on, Class Representative Charles

Washington, Class Representative E dward Anderson and the class they
seek to represent to those jobs they would now be occupying but for
IKON’s discriminatory practices;
i.

An Order directing IKON to adjust the wage rates and benefits for

Class Representative St. Clare Rose nberg, Class Representative W ayne
Anderson, Class Representative Charles Washington, Class Representative
Edward Anderson and the class they seek to represent to the level that they
would be enjoying but for IKON’s discriminatory practices;
j.

An award of back pay; front

pay; lost job b enefits; pr eferential

rights to jobs, and other equitable re lief for Mr. St. Clare Rosenberg, Mr.
Wayne Anderson, Mr. Charles Washington, Mr. Edward Anderson and the
class they seek to represent;
k.

An award of compensatory damages in an am ount not less than 50

million dollars;
l.

Punitive dam ages unde r Counts X, XI and XII in the sum of 50

million dollars on behalf of all past, current and future IKON em ployees
employed by IKON in the city of New York;
m.

Prejudgment and postjudgment interest; and
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Such other and further relief as

the Court m ay deem just and

proper.

VIII. JURY DEMAND
Plaintiffs and the class demand a trial by jury of all issues.
Dated: August 3, 2006
SANFORD, WITTELS & HEISLER, LLP
By: S/___________________________________
Jeremy Heisler, JH-0145
Steven L. Wittels, SLW-8110
SANFORD, WITTELS & HEISLER, LLP
950 Third Avenue, 10th Floor
New York, NY 10022
Telephone: (646) 723-2947
Facsimile: (646) 723-2948
David W. Sanford, D.C. Bar No. 457933
SANFORD, WITTELS & HEISLER, LLP
1666 Connecticut Ave, N.W., Suite 310
Washington, D.C. 20009
Tel: (202) 742-7777
Fax: (202) 742-7776
Grant Morris, D.C. Bar No. 926253
LAW OFFICES OF GRANT E. MORRIS
1666 Connecticut Ave, N.W., Suite 310
Washington, D.C. 20009
Tel: (202) 742-7777
Fax: (202) 742-7776
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Class
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, JEREMY HEISLER, an attorney duly admitted in this court, hereby certify and
say:

I have caused to be served by First Class U.S. Mail on August 3, 2006 a true and

correct cop y of the First Am ended Class Action Com plaint by First Class U.S. Mail,
postage pre-paid, correctly addressed to the following:
Tamsin Newman, Esq.
MORGAN LEWIS
101 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10178
Attorneys for Defendant IKON Office Solutions, Inc.
Date: New York, New York
August 3, 2006
_S/____________________________

JEREMY HEISLER
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